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INTRODUCTION 

In its Complaint, Walmart Inc. (“Walmart”) explained why it, and the pharmacy industry 

more broadly, needs declaratory relief clarifying the scope of its obligations under the Controlled 

Substances Act (“CSA”) and its regulations.  The Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”) and 

its parent agency, the Department of Justice (“DOJ”), are seeking to distract from their own failures 

in combating the opioid crisis by shifting responsibility to pharmacists who fill prescriptions issued 

by state-licensed and DEA-registered doctors.  Unsupported by statute or regulation, Defendants 

have invented a slew of purported obligations, all driving toward their broader position that 

pharmacists and pharmacies must rigorously second-guess doctors’ judgments before filling their 

prescriptions.  At the same time, pharmacists and pharmacies face conflicting guidance and legal 

risk from state regulators, doctors, and patients who strenuously object to what they view as 

invasion of the doctor-patient relationship and unauthorized practice of medicine. 

Walmart now seeks summary judgment on five discrete questions of law, each a point of 

ripe controversy with Defendants, that the Court can resolve expeditiously without the cost of 

factual development.  Defendants’ insistence on their sweeping legal contentions—and threats of 

enforcement—create an urgent need for clarification.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 57 (“The court may order 

a speedy hearing of a declaratory-judgment action.”).  Partial summary judgment is thus 

appropriate, despite the litigation’s early stage, in this unique case.   

First, the Court should reject Defendants’ view that a pharmacist can incur liability under 

the CSA just by filling a prescription without documenting in writing how she resolved certain so-

called “red flags”—that is, potential reasons to question whether a doctor wrote a prescription 

outside the ordinary course of professional treatment.  DEA’s rules prohibit pharmacists only from 

knowingly filling a prescription issued outside the usual course—but neither mandate a process for 
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investigating a prescription nor require documenting the reason the pharmacist chose to fill it as a 

matter of professional judgment.  Liability requires proof both that the prescription was illegitimate 

and that the pharmacist knew that it was—not just an alleged procedural failing. 

Second, the Court should reject Defendants’ view that the CSA and its regulations forbid 

pharmacists to fill entire categories of prescriptions, without regard to individual facts and 

circumstances.  Federal health agencies, courts, and (historically) even DEA itself have agreed 

that, given unique patient needs and genuine disagreement among medical professionals, there can 

be no such bright-line rules when it comes to proper dispensing. 

Third, the Court should reject Defendants’ novel view that the CSA and its regulations 

impose duties on businesses that operate pharmacies other than those imposed on their individual 

pharmacists.  The regulatory framework sensibly entrusts primary responsibility for proper 

dispensing to doctors, with a corresponding responsibility to trained and licensed pharmacists; 

corporate officials have no independent duties on that front under the CSA or its regulations.   

Fourth, the Court should reject Defendants’ view that the CSA and its regulations not only 

require controlled-substance distributors to report to DEA orders flagged as “suspicious,” but also 

forbid them from shipping those orders without first conducting their own investigation.  Under 

existing law, it is DEA that is expected to act on the reports if it believes they raise sufficient 

concerns of abuse.  Defendants have all but conceded the point by recently proposing to amend 

the regulations to add the restriction they claim has always existed.   

Fifth, the Court should reject Defendants’ view that failure to submit suspicious order 

reports gave rise to civil penalties under the CSA even before Congress amended the statute to so 

provide in October 2018.  The plain text of the statute refutes that view, which would also render 

the congressional amendment pointless.  
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There is a common theme here.  Unhappy with the statutory scheme Congress created and 

the regulatory scheme they themselves promulgated, Defendants are seeking to impose, through 

litigation and threats of litigation, new duties and obligations, after-the-fact and without following 

the administrative procedures necessary to confer the force and effect of law.  Instead, they either 

construct these new duties and obligations out of whole cloth or purport to rely on informal 

presentations or letters, or dicta in one-off adjudicative decisions, to manufacture new substantive 

obligations.  They then seek to collect enormous sums in retroactive liability from those who 

“violated” these extra-legal “rules,” with no regard to the pharmacists’ good faith in exercising 

their professional judgment in a challenging regulatory context.  This Court should not hesitate to 

declare that none of this is supportable. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES TO BE DECIDED1  

1. Whether the CSA or its regulations impose liability on a pharmacist who, when 

filling a controlled-substance prescription written by a state-licensed and DEA-registered doctor, 

does not document resolution of “red flags” that may be associated with the prescription. 

2. Whether the CSA or its regulations require pharmacists to refuse to fill entire 

categories of prescriptions, without regard to the individual facts and circumstances of each case. 

3. Whether the CSA or its regulations impose additional duties on pharmacy 

businesses when filling prescriptions, beyond those imposed on the pharmacists themselves. 

4. Whether the CSA or its regulations require controlled-substance distributors not 

only to report “suspicious” orders to DEA but also to investigate and clear those orders before 

shipping them.  

                                                 
1 Local Rule Civil 56(a) requires summary judgment motions to contain a “Statement of 

Undisputed Material Facts.”  Because Walmart’s motion for partial summary judgment raises only 
pure questions of law, there are no such facts to identify.   
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5. Whether the CSA, before Congress amended it in 2018, subjected controlled-

substance distributors to civil penalties for failing to submit suspicious-order reports required only 

by DEA’s regulations but not by the statute itself.   

ARGUMENT 

This is a case about agency power.  Congress often authorizes agencies to enforce statutory 

duties and obligations.  Sometimes, Congress also authorizes agencies to promulgate regulations, 

carrying the force and effect of law, which those agencies can then enforce.  But fundamental rule-

of-law principles limit agency enforcement proceedings to those sources of binding obligations.  

See, e.g., Perez v. Mortgage Bankers Ass’n, 575 U.S. 92, 96 (2015) (“Rules issued through the 

notice-and-comment process ... have the force and effect of law,” while rules issued in other ways 

“do not have the force and effect of law and are not accorded that weight.”); Schofield v. Saul, 950 

F.3d 315 (5th Cir. 2020) (limiting consideration to sources with “force and effect of law”). 

Of course, only Congress can enact statutory obligations, and agencies must abide by the 

substantive and procedural requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act to promulgate valid 

regulations.  Driven by regulatory zeal, agencies have been known to circumvent those limitations 

in a variety of ways.  Sometimes, they issue informal “guidance” that purports to define new duties, 

and then try to enforce those manufactured obligations.  That is impermissible, as DOJ itself has 

confirmed in a recent regulation.  See 28 C.F.R. § 50.27(b)(1) (“guidance documents cannot by 

themselves create binding requirements that do not already exist by statute or regulation,” and so 

DOJ “should not treat a party’s noncompliance with a guidance document as itself a violation of 

applicable statutes or regulations”).  Other times, agencies seek to rely on reasoning from their 

own adjudicatory decisions, transforming those into binding rules.  That too flouts the law, because 

adjudication is a means to interpret existing duties, not to impose new ones.  See NLRB v. Wyman-

Gordon Co., 394 U.S. 759, 765–66 (1969) (plurality opinion) (rejecting notion that “commands, 
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decisions, or policies announced in adjudication are ‘rules’ in the sense that they must, without 

more, be obeyed by the affected public”).  And, sometimes, agencies try to invent novel obligations 

out of whole cloth, without even the pretense of guidance or adjudication. 

As discussed further below, Defendants here are authorized to enforce the CSA and its duly 

promulgated implementing regulations.  Yet they have adopted positions that cannot be justified 

by those sources of law, instead relying on non-binding guidance, inapplicable adjudications, or 

in some instances nothing at all.  This Court should reject those positions. 

I. PHARMACISTS CANNOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR FAILING TO DOCUMENT RESOLUTION 
OF “RED FLAGS.” 

Defendants have adopted the position that pharmacists may be liable under the CSA for 

filling prescriptions without documenting the resolution of all “red flags” associated with them.  

(Compl. ¶ 132.)  That is legally misguided.  The phrase “red flags” “does not appear in the [CSA], 

DEA regulations, or the DEA’s Pharmacist Manual.”  Jones Total Health Care Pharmacy, LLC, 

81 Fed. Reg. 79188, 79218 (Nov. 10, 2016).  Rather, it is shorthand for various indicia—often 

subject to professional debate over their existence and weight, and sometimes found only in 

PowerPoints (Comp. ¶ 125)—that might give a pharmacist some reason to suspect that the doctor 

did not issue the specific prescription for a legitimate medical purpose.  Examples might include 

the distance a patient traveled to see her doctor, prescriptions involving certain quantities or doses, 

and customers who pay for a prescription with cash.  But a pharmacist is not subject to penalties 

under the CSA merely for filling a prescription that might raise a “red flag,” much less for failing 

to document how she investigated or resolved that “red flag.”  Instead, penalties are available only 

if (1) the prescriber wrote a specific prescription for something other than a legitimate medical 

purpose and (2) the pharmacist filled the prescription with knowledge that it was illegitimate.   
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A. Starting with the statute, the CSA prohibits “any person … who is subject to the 

requirements of part C to … dispense a controlled substance in violation of section 829 of this 

title.”  21 U.S.C. § 842(a)(1).  Section 829, entitled “Prescriptions,” provides that no controlled 

substance “may be dispensed without the written prescription of a practitioner.”  Id. § 829.  As the 

Supreme Court has explained, § 829 is “a provision that ensures patients use controlled substances 

under the supervision of a doctor.”  Gonzales v. Oregon, 546 U.S. 243, 274 (2006).  The statute is 

thus concerned only with ensuring that a properly licensed and registered doctor has authorized 

the use of the controlled substance by the patient.  Nothing in the statute restricts a duly registered 

and licensed pharmacist from dispensing controlled substances under a prescription written by a 

duly registered and licensed doctor. 

B. DEA’s regulations do impose certain such restrictions on pharmacists, by fleshing 

out the requirements for a valid “prescription.”  Most of these are technical—e.g., a licensed and 

registered practitioner must write the prescription, see 21 C.F.R. § 1306.03(a), it must “be dated 

as of, and signed on, the day when issued,” and it must include certain information, such as “the 

drug name, strength, dosage form, quantity prescribed, [and] directions for use,” id. § 1306.05(a).  

Under some circumstances, however—such as where the prescriber acts like a “drug ‘pusher[]’” 

rather than a doctor—a prescription that meets these technical specifications may still be invalid, 

in which case it “is not a prescription at all for purposes of the statute.”  United States v. Hayes, 

595 F.2d 258, 260–61 (5th Cir. 1979).  Knowingly filling such a prescription would thus 

contravene the statute.  But these regulations nowhere require pharmacists to address “red flags” 

in any particular way, much less document any steps taken before filling prescriptions. 

The principal regulation defining a valid “prescription” and speaking to the circumstances 

under which a pharmacist may dispense controlled substances, 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), provides: 
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A prescription for a controlled substance to be effective must be issued for a 
legitimate medical purpose by an individual practitioner acting in the usual course 
of his professional practice.  The responsibility for the proper prescribing and 
dispensing of controlled substances is upon the prescribing practitioner, but a 
corresponding responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription.  
An order purporting to be a prescription issued not in the usual course of 
professional treatment … is not a prescription within the meaning and intent of [21 
U.S.C. § 829] and the person knowingly filling such a purported prescription, as 
well as the person issuing it, shall be subject to the penalties provided for violations 
of the provisions of law relating to controlled substances. 
 
This regulation has three sentences.  The first defines a valid prescription: The doctor must 

issue it for “a legitimate medical purpose” “in the usual course” of his practice.  Id.  The second 

sentence allocates responsibility for ensuring adherence to that rule: The principal duty falls, of 

course, “upon the prescribing practitioner,” but the pharmacist also holds a “corresponding 

responsibility.”  Id.  The third sentence spells out how those responsibilities operate in practice, 

and their implications: A “purported prescription” issued outside “the usual course of professional 

treatment” is not a prescription within the meaning of 21 U.S.C. § 829, and “the person issuing it” 

(the doctor) and “the person knowingly filling” it (the pharmacist) are both “subject to the penalties 

provided for violations” of the CSA.  Id. (emphasis added).  Thus, a pharmacist violates the CSA 

based on this regulation only if (1) the pharmacist filled prescriptions “that were not issued for a 

legitimate medical purpose,” and (2) “he did so knowing that the prescriptions were invalid.”  

United States v. Veal, 23 F.3d 985, 988 (6th Cir. 1994). 

The scope of the pharmacist’s duty and potential liability under the CSA’s penalty 

provisions is clear: Pharmacists must not knowingly fill prescriptions issued by a doctor outside 

the usual course of treatment.  The knowledge requirement was added specifically to protect 

pharmacists, who are not doctors or authorized to practice medicine.  See Regulations 

Implementing the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970, 36 Fed. Reg. 

7776, 7777 (Apr. 24, 1971) (noting that the regulation was “revised to require knowledge” after 
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pharmacists “objected to the responsibility placed upon a pharmacist … to determine the 

legitimacy of a prescription”).  But the regulation does not require pharmacists to document their 

resolution of any “red flags” that might arise in reviewing a prescription, or to follow any other 

process with respect to such “red flags,” to avoid CSA liability.  Nor is such a requirement implicit 

in the prohibition against knowingly filling invalid prescriptions.   

A pharmacist who does not document resolution of a “red flag” is not necessarily (or even 

likely) filling an invalid prescription, let alone doing so with scienter.  Depending on all the facts 

and circumstances of a particular prescription, the existence of one or more “red flags” at most 

might represent some evidence (although inconclusive evidence) making it more likely that it is 

invalid.  But merely showing that a prescription presents “red flags” hardly establishes that the 

prescription is invalid, and the fact that a pharmacist did not document resolution of a “red flag” 

before dispensing under that prescription establishes neither the invalidity of the prescription as a 

medical matter nor the pharmacist’s scienter in filling it. 

For one thing, the pharmacist may resolve the “red flag” without documenting it.  Imagine 

that a customer presents a prescription written by a doctor far from the pharmacy.  While this might 

raise questions, it also might not: The pharmacist might, for instance, know from past encounters 

that the customer works near the pharmacy but lives near the doctor, so the prescription is 

legitimate.  That pharmacist satisfies her responsibility—by not “knowingly fill[ing]” an invalid 

prescription—even if she conducts no investigation and never records why she believes the doctor 

wrote the prescription in the usual course of treatment.  Or consider a husband and wife filling 

prescriptions for the same medication.  In the abstract, that may raise concerns of diversion.  But 

if the pharmacist knows that each member of the unfortunate couple suffers from serious back 

pain, she has satisfied her duty—even if she does not commit that knowledge to writing.  In neither 
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event could there be any liability under the CSA, even though these prescriptions bear so-called 

“red flags” that the pharmacist neither investigated nor documented. 

In addition, even if the pharmacist does not resolve the “red flag,” that does not necessarily 

imply any violation by the pharmacist.  After all, the “red flag” itself does not establish on its own 

that the prescription was improper, and there is no liability absent an invalid prescription. 

Moreover, even if the prescription is invalid, a pharmacist is still not liable absent scienter, 

which a “red flag” does not establish.  Recall that there is no official list in the statute or regulations 

of what they are, how much weight they deserve, or how a pharmacist can or should resolve them.  

Much of this is subject to legitimate professional debate.  “Red flags” is thus just shorthand for 

indicia that may make impropriety somewhat more likely relative to prescriptions lacking that 

characteristic.  But § 1306.04(a) is not a strict liability provision or even a negligence provision; it 

only forbids pharmacists to “knowingly fill[]” illegitimate prescriptions.  The mere existence of 

an alleged “red flag” does not equate to a knowing violation. 

The pharmacist thus might not recognize or agree with what Defendants later claim to be 

a “red flag.”  In that case, she would not investigate, much less document, the resolution of a “red 

flag”—she did not believe there was one.  Yet she can violate § 1306.04(a) only if she “knowingly 

fill[s]” a prescription “issued not in the usual course of professional treatment.” 

C. There is another regulation that governs pharmacists in their dispensing of 

controlled substances.  But it too imposes no liability for failure to document “red flags.” 

This second regulation states that “[a] prescription for a controlled substance may only be 

filled by a pharmacist, acting in the usual course of his professional practice.”  21 C.F.R. § 1306.06.  

The Supreme Court has explained that acting outside “the usual course” of one’s profession means 

abandoning all professional norms to the point of no longer acting in a professional capacity.  In 
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United States v. Moore, for instance, the doctor “did not regulate the dosage at all, prescribing as 

much and as frequently as the patient demanded.”  423 U.S. 122, 143 (1975).  He also “did not 

charge for medical services rendered, but graduated his fee according to the number of tablets 

desired.”  Id.  Because “[i]n practical effect, he acted as a large-scale ‘pusher’ not as a physician,” 

his activities “f[ell] outside the usual course of professional practice” and subjected him to CSA 

liability.  Id. at 124, 143; see also United States v. Evans, 892 F.3d 692, 703–04 (5th Cir. 2018) 

(upholding convictions where doctor prescribed “more than a year and a half” of opioids to patients 

who traveled from long distances, provided only “barebones” medical records, and expressed 

sentiments inconsistent with the need for legitimate treatment); United States v. Armstrong, 550 

F.3d 382, 401 (5th Cir. 2008) (requiring proof that defendant lacked “good faith intent to act within 

the scope of medical practice,” not just “mere civil malpractice”).  The meager case law applying 

§ 1306.06 agrees.  See United States v. Williams, 416 F. Supp. 611, 613 (D.D.C. 1976) (pharmacist 

“must have known that some of the prescriptions had been forged ... and that the bulk of them had 

not been issued in the course of legitimate medical practice”); United States v. Barbacoff, 416 F. 

Supp. 606, 609 (D.D.C. 1976) (pharmacist filled prescriptions “knowing that the signatures 

thereon were mechanically reproduced”). 

Under that standard, a pharmacist does not exceed the “usual course of his professional 

practice” merely by failing to document his resolution of “red flags” before filling a prescription.  

Even if Defendants or experts believe that this documentation is a good idea, a pharmacist who 

does not follow that practice is still operating as a pharmacist and does not violate § 1306.06.  The 

regulation does not, in other words, mandate whatever courts, Defendants, or experts might believe 

are best practices for pharmacists.  Nor could it.  For one thing, that sweeping interpretation would 

present fatal vagueness problems.  See FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 567 U.S. 239, 253 
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(2012) (“A fundamental principle in our legal system is that laws which regulate persons or entities 

must give fair notice of conduct that is forbidden or required.”).  For another, it would swallow 

and render superfluous the more specific regulation governing dispensing, § 1306.04(a), which 

carefully forbids only knowingly filling invalid prescriptions.  If § 1306.06 were construed to 

codify professional standards for pharmacists and require them to follow certain procedural steps 

before filling prescriptions, § 1306.04(a) would do nothing.  Cf. Radzanower v. Touche Ross & 

Co., 426 U.S. 148, 153 (1976) (explaining that “a statute dealing with a narrow, precise, and 

specific subject is not submerged by a later enacted statute covering a more generalized 

spectrum”).  For a third, it would offend federalism principles by turning the paradigmatic state 

power over professional standards into a matter of federal law.  See Jones v. United States, 529 

U.S. 848, 858 (2000) (courts disfavor interpretations that upset federal-state balance by extending 

“federal enforcement” over “traditionally local” matters).  And, as if that were not enough, the 

CSA also provides for criminal sanctions.  See 21 U.S.C. § 842(c)(2).  That implicates the rule of 

lenity, which requires that courts avoid the “harsher” interpretation of a regulation unless it is 

unambiguously correct.  McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350, 359–60 (1987); see also Leocal 

v. Ashcroft, 543 U.S. 1, 11 n.8 (2004). 

Defendants have also taken the extraordinary and unprecedented position that “acting in 

the usual course of pharmacy practice includes compliance with all relevant state laws and 

regulations.”  Complaint ¶ 21, United States v. Seashore Drugs, Inc., No. 7:20-cv-207 (E.D.N.C.) 

(filed Oct. 30, 2020) (emphasis added); see also Complaint ¶ 19, United States v. Farmville Disc. 

Drug, Inc., No. 4:20-cv-0018 (E.D.N.C.) (filed Jan. 29, 2020).  That would have the bizarre effect 

of turning every state regulatory or administrative violation—which may be subject only to minor 

penalties, or even no penalties at all, under state law—into a violation of the CSA and potentially 

Case 4:20-cv-00817-SDJ   Document 21   Filed 11/16/20   Page 17 of 37 PageID #:  251



 

- 12 - 
 

a federal crime.  And, contrary to the careful balance struck by § 1306.04(a), it would do so even 

if the underlying prescription was not illegitimate, and even if the pharmacist did not act with the 

requisite scienter.  Section 1306.06 would thus incorporate widely disparate state rules, all 

suddenly subject to the CSA’s serious civil and criminal enforcement tools, even where the 

pharmacist abides by the federal regulation that directly speaks to the issue.  The same problems 

would also plague doctors, who may only prescribe controlled substances “in the usual course of 

[their] professional practice.”  21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a). 

That must be wrong, and it is wrong.  Just as a professional who does not adhere to all best 

practices is still operating in a professional capacity, a professional who violates a state-law rule 

has not thereby stepped “outside the bounds of professional practice” under federal law.  Moore, 

423 U.S. at 132.  Beyond the canons above, Defendants’ contrary reading would ignore the maxim 

that, “in the absence of a plain indication of an intent to incorporate diverse state laws into a federal 

criminal statute, the meaning of the federal statute should not be dependent on state law.”  United 

States v. Turley, 352 U.S. 407, 411 (1957); see also Jerome v. United States, 318 U.S. 101, 106 

(1943) (“[W]hen Congress has desired to incorporate state laws in other federal penal statutes, it 

has done so by specific reference or adoption.”).  As explained above, acting outside the “usual 

course” means abandoning all professional norms and effectively ceasing the practice of 

pharmacy.  That concept should not be conflated with, and reduced to, any breach of professional 

standards set by state regulators. 

D. Defendants have also asserted that pharmacists’ supposed duties with respect to the 

resolution of “red flags” have been established through agency adjudications.  As explained above, 

however, adjudications cannot establish new binding duties—they can only construe and enforce 

existing obligations under the statute or regulations.  See supra pp. 4–5; Wyman-Gordon, 394 U.S. 
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at 765–66 (plurality opinion); see also SEC v. Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 203 (1947) (agencies 

must choose between “proceeding by general rule or by individual, ad hoc litigation”); Neustar, 

Inc. v. FCC, 857 F.3d 886, 895–96 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (“adjudicatory holdings a[re] inherently 

retroactive” and thus “likely to be specific to individuals or entities,” while rulemaking is 

“inherently prospective” and therefore “rules tend to be matters of more general application”).  

Again, nothing in the CSA or DEA’s regulations exposes pharmacists to civil liability for how 

they address or document their resolution of “red flags”—only for knowingly filling an improper 

prescription. 

Moreover, the adjudications in question center on an entirely different provision of the 

CSA—the Attorney General’s authority to revoke a dispenser’s registration if that registration is 

“inconsistent with the public interest.”  See 21 U.S.C. § 823(f).  That the Attorney General may 

conclude that a pharmacist’s continued registration is inconsistent with the public interest does not 

mean that the pharmacist is liable under § 842(a)(1). 

And, in any event, those administrative decisions do not actually support the notion that 

failing to address or document a “red flag” is itself a violation of federal law.  In Superior 

Pharmacy I & Superior Pharmacy II, DEA acknowledged that violations of § 1306.04(a) require 

proof that the pharmacist “actual[ly] kn[ew]” or was “willfully blind” to a prescription’s invalidity.  

81 Fed. Reg. 31310, 31335 (May 18, 2016).  DEA also made clear that, to “establish that a 

pharmacist acted with the requisite scienter,” it is “not enough” to prove “that a pharmacist 

dispensed a controlled substance prescription without resolving a red flag”—much less that she 

did so without documenting that resolution.  Id. at 31335 n.54.  Instead, there must also be 

“subjective belief” of a “high probability that a prescription lacks a legitimate medical purpose”; 

only then can one infer the pharmacist’s knowledge or willful blindness.  Id. 
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To be sure, DEA did warn that it might “draw an adverse inference that a pharmacist failed 

to resolve a red flag (or flags) from the failure to document the resolution in any manner.”  Id. at 

31335.  And courts, applying highly deferential standards that govern review of DEA’s registration 

decisions, have upheld revocations that rested on such inferences.  See, e.g., Pharmacy Doctors 

Enters., Inc. v. DEA, 789 F. App’x 724, 731 (11th Cir. 2019) (per curiam) (upholding revocation 

as supported by substantial evidence based on DEA’s theory that “absence of any documentation 

of resolution of a red flag is probative of a failure to resolve it”).  But an evidentiary inference 

from the absence of documentation of red-flag resolution does not create a free-standing obligation 

to keep such records.  And while DEA may have flexibility in adopting evidentiary inferences 

when it decides whether to revoke registrations under the open-ended “public interest” standard, 

21 U.S.C. § 823(f), Defendants must satisfy ordinary evidentiary rules if they seek to impose civil 

penalties in federal court for alleged violations of the CSA.  There is no basis in the law for drawing 

any sort of adverse inference from the absence of records that a party is under no legal obligation 

to create.  Cf. Vick v. Tex. Emp. Comm’n, 514 F.2d 734, 737 (5th Cir. 1975) (rejecting adverse 

inference where documents were destroyed in ordinary course, because “adverse inference to be 

drawn from destruction of records is predicated on bad conduct of the defendant”).  And, as DEA 

has previously admitted, even the failure to address a “red flag” is not itself a basis for liability. 

In short: The regulations simply forbid a pharmacist from knowingly filling a prescription 

issued by a prescriber outside the ordinary course of medical practice, or from herself dispensing 

outside the usual course of pharmacy practice.  Defendants cannot circumvent these requirements 

through a wholly invented independent obligation to document the resolution of “red flags,” and 

no liability for civil penalties attaches to mere failure to create, retain, or produce such 

documentation. 
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II. THE CSA AND ITS IMPLEMENTING REGULATIONS DO NOT REQUIRE PHARMACISTS TO 
REFUSE TO FILL ENTIRE CATEGORIES OF PRESCRIPTIONS WITHOUT REGARD TO 
INDIVIDUAL FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES. 

Defendants have also asserted that categories of otherwise-valid prescriptions that raise 

certain “red flags” are per se invalid and that a pharmacist who fills one of these prescriptions is 

liable under the CSA.  (Compl. ¶ 129.)  Neither the CSA nor its regulations, however, identifies 

categories of impermissible prescriptions, and asking pharmacists to make those judgments would 

disrupt the doctor-patient relationship.  To establish CSA liability, a court instead must evaluate a 

pharmacist’s dispensing decisions case-by-case, considering the pharmacist’s limited ability to 

second-guess medical judgments by licensed doctors.  Walmart therefore seeks a declaration that 

the CSA does not require pharmacists to refuse to fill entire categories of prescriptions. 

Defendants have identified a series of factors that purportedly place the prescription into a 

category no pharmacist can ever fill.  The CSA and its regulations identify some such factors, and 

Walmart makes no objections to those categories that actually appear in the law—as explained, 

for example, a prescription must be written by a licensed and registered practitioner, and include 

certain information such as the date and patient’s name.  Supra p. 6.  Any prescription that does 

not meet these requirements is invalid, and the CSA forbids writing or knowingly filling them. 

Defendants have also sought, however, to enforce unwritten requirements related to drug 

combinations, quantities, and strengths, effectively treating entire categories of prescriptions as 

illegal on their face, regardless of a patient’s facts and circumstances.  (Compl. ¶ 129.)  For 

example, DOJ has taken the position in some contexts that there is “no medical basis” for a so-

called “trinity” prescription consisting of an opiate, a benzodiazepine, and a muscle relaxant, see 

Compl. ¶ 31, United States v. Rodriguez, No. 19-cv-1055 (N.D. Tex.) (filed May 2, 2019), and 

that any doctor who writes and any pharmacist who fills such a prescription therefore violates the 

CSA.  Whether a particular type of prescription has a permissible medical purpose, however, is 
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not the type of judgment that the Attorney General can make.  In Gonzales v. Oregon, the Supreme 

Court rejected the Attorney General’s attempt to define the requirement that prescriptions must 

have “a legitimate medical purpose” as prohibiting dispensing controlled substances for physician-

assisted suicide.  546 U.S. at 274–75.  Acknowledging that the Attorney General has rulemaking 

authority, the Court still held that “he is not authorized to make a rule declaring illegitimate a 

medical standard for care and treatment of patients” when that standard satisfied state law.  Id. at 

258.  Instead, “[t]he CSA allocates decisionmaking powers among statutory actors so that medical 

judgments, if they are to be decided at the federal level and for the limited objects of the statute, 

are placed in the hands of the Secretary [of Health and Human Services].”  Id. at 265. 

Under Gonzales, the Attorney General lacks the authority under the CSA to declare that 

prescriptions featuring particular combinations, strengths, or quantities of drugs lack medical 

purpose and therefore dispensing such prescriptions is per se a violation of the CSA.  The authority 

to determine medical legitimacy at the federal level instead belongs to the Secretary of Health and 

Human Services (“HHS”).  But, for example, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services within 

HHS declined to prohibit repayment for certain combination prescriptions, fatally undermining 

Defendants’ articulated position that dispensing such a combination is per se unlawful.  See CMS, 

Announcement of Calendar Year (CY) 2017 Medicare Advantage Capitation Rates and Medicare 

Advantage and Part D Payment Policies and Final Call Letter (Apr. 4, 2016).  At the state level, 

boards of medicine and pharmacy and legislatures also may determine whether certain categories 

of prescription lack medical legitimacy.  So long as none of these entities has established a bar on 

certain categories or combinations of prescriptions, however, Defendants cannot hold a pharmacist 

liable under the CSA simply for knowingly filling prescriptions in those categories.  
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Along with seeking to impose categorical requirements with respect to what types of 

prescriptions a pharmacist may fill, Defendants have asserted that factors extrinsic to the 

prescription itself may create circumstances in which no pharmacist may fill the prescription.  

Many of these factors—such as repeatedly seeking to fill the same kind of prescription—implicate 

medical judgments and thus are beyond the Attorney General’s authority to categorically prohibit.  

Other factors—such as whether multiple residents in a household receive pain medication or 

whether the pharmacy is far from the prescribing physician’s office—do not implicate medical 

judgments, but there also is no regulatory basis for the Attorney General to declare that these 

factors establish per se violations of the CSA.  That a patient seeks to fill a prescription far from 

his home, or that multiple residents in the same household may require pain medication, does not 

itself establish that the prescription was “issued not in the usual course of professional treatment” 

or that it has no “legitimate medical purpose,” 21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a), nor is there anything else 

in the regulations that prohibits filling a prescription with these factors present.  The existence of 

certain factors may have evidentiary value, see supra p. 14, but unless those factors in themselves 

impart knowledge that the prescription is illegitimate, the mere fact that a pharmacist fills 

categories of prescriptions with those features cannot create per se violations of the CSA.  To read 

the regulatory framework otherwise not only takes medical judgments away from doctors in favor 

of government officials with no medical training, but also demands that pharmacists insert 

themselves in the middle of the doctor-patient relationship by second-guessing the judgment of 

the prescriber who has examined and diagnosed the patient.  

Courts have consistently accepted that the CSA and its implementing regulations do not 

establish categories of per se invalid prescriptions.  For example, in United States v. Lovern, the 

government alleged that a pharmacist filled prescriptions issued “outside the usual course of 
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contemporary medical practice” because the prescriptions were “based solely on an online 

questionnaire, without anything more—without any existing doctor-patient relationship, without a 

physical exam, without any confirmation of the questionnaire’s contents, without any further 

contact of any sort,” and that the pharmacists had known that this is how the prescribers operated 

but filled the prescriptions anyway.  590 F.3d 1095, 1100 (10th Cir. 2009).  Distinguishing 

Gonzales, the Tenth Circuit noted that the pharmacist was free to present evidence that these 

prescribing practices “were consistent with the usual course of professional practice,” and that “the 

question what constitutes usual medical practice remained, at all times, within [the jury’s] 

province, not the Attorney General’s.”  Id.  Other circuits have similarly determined that 

establishing CSA liability requires case-by-case analysis.  See, e.g., United States v. Sabean, 885 

F.3d 27, 46 (1st Cir. 2018) (“There is no pat formula describing what proof is required to ground 

a finding that a defendant acted outside the usual course of professional practice.  Rather, inquiring 

courts must approach the issue on a case-by-case basis and sift the evidence in a given case….”); 

United States v. Volkman, 797 F.3d 377, 386 (6th Cir. 2015) (describing the court’s approach to 

CSA liability as “eschewing a preestablished list of prohibited acts in favor of a case-by-case 

approach”).   

Even the DEA historically acknowledged that there are no bright-line rules.  For example, 

a 2006 policy statement, after identifying factors that courts had identified as indicating diversion 

or abuse, rejected that the existence of any of the factors “will automatically lead to the conclusion 

that the physician acted improperly,” instead confirming that “each case must be evaluated based 

on its own merits in view of the totality of circumstances particular to the physician and patient.”  

Dispensing Controlled Substances for the Treatment of Pain, 71 Fed. Reg. 52716, 52720 (Sept. 6, 

2006) (Dispensing Controlled Substances).   
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But Defendants have threatened to pursue an enforcement action based on the notion of 

categorically invalid prescriptions.  This Court should confirm that they may not do so, and that 

violations of the CSA must be established case-by-case based on all of the individual facts and 

circumstances associated with the particular prescription. 

III. NEITHER THE CSA NOR ITS REGULATIONS IMPOSE SPECIAL DISPENSING OBLIGATIONS 
ON BUSINESSES THAT OPERATE PHARMACIES.  

Defendants have also contended that businesses that operate pharmacies may be liable 

under the CSA for the filling of prescriptions even if no employee pharmacist knowingly filled a 

prescription issued outside the usual course or otherwise violated any regulations.  (Compl. ¶ 142.)  

They assert that such businesses are required to affirmatively collect, analyze, and share 

information—such as data about the prescribing and prescription-filling habits of doctors and 

patients, and information about when pharmacists have refused to fill prescriptions—across their 

stores, so individual pharmacists have access to more information when they consider whether to 

fill prescriptions.  So, for example, if one pharmacist refuses to fill a prescription and another 

pharmacist employed by the same business reaches a different conclusion in the exercise of her 

professional judgment, Defendants would infer wrongdoing by the business.  Defendants also 

assert that pharmacy businesses must in some cases impose categorical blocks on prescriptions 

written by particular (state-licensed, DEA-registered) doctors, rather than leave those decisions to 

the case-by-case judgments of their pharmacist employees.  Yet although some pharmacies have 

voluntarily implemented some of these practices, no law or regulation establishes any such 

obligations, and Defendants cannot seek to impose liability based on them. 

First, Defendants claim that pharmacy businesses must collect, analyze, and share among 

their stores the data on when its pharmacists refuse to fill prescriptions, and more generally about 

the prescription histories of doctors and patients.  But no provision of the CSA or its implementing 
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regulations comes close to setting out such an affirmative obligation.  Indeed, the regulations do 

not require such pharmacies even to maintain any information about refusals to fill, much less to 

analyze or share it in a particular way.  And, as discussed, the only specific duty that the CSA 

regulations impose regarding the dispensing of prescribed controlled substances—the so-called 

“corresponding responsibility”—exclusively “rests with the pharmacist who fills the 

prescription,” not the business that owns or operates the pharmacy.  21 C.F.R. § 1306.04(a) 

(emphasis added).  Simply put, there is no statutory or regulatory basis from which one could even 

remotely infer an affirmative duty on the pharmacy business itself to maintain, analyze, or share 

data about prescription histories or refusals to fill. 

Indeed, the CSA’s regulations specifically exclude controlled-substance dispensers from 

the requirement that other CSA registrants must “design and operate a system” to detect suspicious 

orders.  Section 1301.74(b), explained below, see infra p. 23, requires manufacturers and 

distributors to “design and operate a system to disclose to the registrant suspicious orders of 

controlled substances.”  But the specific security provisions addressing pharmacies include no 

similar system-level requirement that would call for reporting of “suspicious” prescriptions.  See 

id. § 1301.76(d) (requiring, for example, that “retail pharmacies” comply with certain 

requirements “when selecting private, common or contract carriers to retrieve filled prescriptions 

from a central fill pharmacy” and instructing them to “report[] in-transit losses upon discovery”).  

Defendants cannot establish a CSA violation by pointing to a corporate pharmacy’s failure to adopt 

policies that are not required by the CSA or its regulations. 

Second, and similarly, Defendants contend that pharmacy businesses must, at least in some 

cases, issue directives prohibiting their pharmacists from filling prescriptions written by particular 

doctors (even though the doctors remain duly licensed by the state, and registered by DEA, to 
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prescribe controlled substances).  But no authority has ever suggested such an obligation.  Again, 

the regulations place “responsibility for the proper prescribing and dispensing of controlled 

substances … upon the prescribing practitioner,” with a “corresponding responsibility” on “the 

pharmacist who fills the prescription.”  Id. § 1306.04(a) (emphases added).  That allocation of 

responsibility makes sense: Pharmacists—not businesses—are expected to exercise their own 

corresponding responsibility when filling a prescription by applying their professional judgment 

to the facts before them in light of their training, education, and experience.  Federal law does not 

contemplate, much less require, that corporate officials would override their trained pharmacist 

employees to preclude, on a categorical basis, the filling of a registered practitioner’s prescriptions.  

And state regulators have maintained that corporate-wide “blocks” actually violate state laws 

governing the practice of medicine and pharmacy, by interfering with the prescribing doctor’s 

medical judgment and the pharmacist’s ability to evaluate each prescription case-by-case, 

potentially subjecting pharmacists and pharmacies to state disciplinary action.  See Compl. ¶¶ 86–

90; see also Ex. 1, Letter from Steven L. Olsen, Idaho Deputy Attorney General, to Idaho Wal-

Mart Pharmacies (Feb. 8, 2019) (alleging that Walmart’s corporate-wide block policy “is 

preventing pharmacists from fulfilling their legal obligations ... and from exercising their 

obligation of corresponding responsibility”); Ex. 2, Wisconsin Pharmacy Examining Board, 

Administrative Warning, Division of Legal Services and Compliance Case No. 17 PHM 095 (Dec. 

6, 2018) (threatening disciplinary action where Walmart pharmacy told local clinic it “would no 

longer fill controlled substance prescriptions from that clinic” and noting that “[t]he broad 

prohibition … deterred pharmacists ... from exercising their independent clinical judgment”).   

Indeed, DEA itself has emphasized that the decision to fill a prescription depends on 

prescription-by-prescription judgment.  “A pharmacist is required to exercise sound professional 
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judgment ... when making a determination about the legitimacy of a controlled substance 

prescription.”  DEA, The Pharmacist’s Manual 42 (2020); see also Dispensing Controlled 

Substances, 71 Fed. Reg. at 52723 (“[E]ach patient’s situation is unique and the nature and degree 

of physician oversight should be tailored accordingly, based on the physician’s sound medical 

judgment....”).   

To be sure, some businesses that operate pharmacies—including Walmart—have chosen 

voluntarily to adopt some of these practices, in part because of Defendants’ pressure, and despite 

serious disagreement from medical professionals.  But Defendants may not hold businesses liable 

for not requiring these practices sooner or for failing to implement other practices that have never 

been required by law.  The Court should declare that the CSA and its regulations do not establish 

corporate liability for failing to aggregate and analyze data, to share information across multiple 

registrant locations, or to deploy a corporate block of state-licensed, DEA-registered doctors. 

IV. DISTRIBUTORS HAVE NO DUTY UNDER CURRENT LAW TO INVESTIGATE AND CLEAR 
“SUSPICIOUS” ORDERS BEFORE DISTRIBUTING THEM. 

Defendants have also adopted the position that controlled-substance distributors must 

investigate and clear “suspicious” orders before distributing them.  (Compl. ¶ 146.)  But as DEA’s 

newly proposed regulations show, distributors have no such duty under existing law.  Instead, they 

need only report “suspicious” orders to DEA, which can then investigate as necessary. 

A. The CSA does not require distributors to investigate or clear “suspicious” orders 

before shipping them.  When Walmart distributed controlled substances to its own pharmacies, the 

statute said nothing about “suspicious” orders at all.  All it did was instruct the Attorney General 

to consider a distributor’s “maintenance of effective controls against diversion” in determining 

whether to grant registration.  21 U.S.C. § 823(b).  In October 2018, Congress amended the CSA 

to specify that registrants must design a system to detect “suspicious” orders and report them to 
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DEA for investigation, but even the amended statute does not require distributors to withhold those 

shipments or do anything besides notify DEA about them.  See id. § 832(a) (requiring registrants 

to “design and operate a system to identify suspicious orders,” “ensure that the system designed” 

complies with privacy laws, and “notify” DEA “upon discovering a suspicious order or series of 

orders”).  Nothing in either version of the statute restricts the shipping of orders. 

The CSA’s implementing regulations contain no such restriction either.  The regulation 

that is specifically directed toward “suspicious” orders requires distributors to “design and operate 

a system to disclose to the registrant suspicious orders of controlled substances.”  21 C.F.R. 

§ 1301.74(b).  But it also makes clear what distributors must do with such orders: “The registrant 

shall inform the Field Division Office of the Administration in his area of suspicious orders when 

discovered by the registrant.”  Id.  This section does not compel distributors to withhold reported 

orders for investigation before shipping them.  And that is a meaningful omission, since other 

subsections of this regulation do require distributors to take certain steps before they ship certain 

orders.  For example, § 1301.74(a) requires distributors to “make a good faith inquiry” into a 

purchaser’s registration “[b]efore distributing a controlled substance” to that purchaser.  And 

§ 1301.74(d) requires distributors to receive a “prior written request” before distributing controlled 

substances “as a complimentary sample to any potential or current customer.” 

No other regulation imposes a “no-ship” duty either.  While 21 C.F.R. § 1301.71(a) 

generally requires all registrants to “provide effective controls and procedures to guard against 

theft and diversion of controlled substances,” that is not a distinct, free-standing obligation.  That 

regulation then specifies that “[i]n order to determine whether a registrant has” met that 

requirement, “the [DEA] Administrator shall use the security requirements set forth in 

§§ 1301.72–1301.76 as standards for the ... controls and operating procedures necessary to prevent 
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diversion.” (emphasis added).  Thus, as to “suspicious” orders, the distributor’s duty is defined by 

the specific obligation addressing that issue, § 1301.74(b).  Kirby Corp. v. Pena, 109 F.3d 258 (5th 

Cir. 1997) (invoking “well known canon of ... construction that a specific ... provision governs the 

general”).   

B. Walmart is not alone in this reading of DEA’s regulations; courts read them in the 

same way.  In United States v. $463,497.72 in United States Currency, for instance, the 

Government tried to stop a distributor from recovering its portion of a pharmacy’s seized funds, 

claiming that the distributor was not an “innocent owner” under the forfeiture laws because it had 

shipped flagged orders to the pharmacy without conducting its own due diligence.  853 F. Supp. 

2d 675 (E.D. Mich. 2012).  The court disagreed.  “[A]ll the regulation requires” of a distributor 

“with respect to suspicious orders [i]s [to] report them to the DEA.”  Id. at 685.  In fact, the record 

in that case revealed that even DEA itself has long understood and enforced its regulations that 

way: “the DEA was aware that it was standard practice in the industry to file suspicious order 

reports while continuing to ship products, and that practice had been approved by the DEA.”  Id. 

at 682.  But see In re Nat’l Prescription Opiate Litig., No. 1-17-md-2804, 2019 WL 3917575, at 

*9 (N.D. Ohio Aug. 19, 2019) (erroneously finding a no-ship duty).   

In recently seeking to promulgate new regulations to restrict the shipment of “suspicious” 

orders, DEA has confirmed that its existing regulations do not.  See Registration of Manufacturers, 

Distributors, and Dispensers of Controlled Substances, 85 Fed. Reg. 69298 (proposed Nov. 2, 

2020) (to be codified at 21 C.F.R. pt. 1301).  Under the proposed rule, a registrant who receives a 

“suspicious” order would have two options: It may “decline to distribute pursuant to the suspicious 

order, immediately file a suspicious order report ... , and maintain a record of the suspicious order 

and any due diligence related to the suspicious order.”  Id.  Or it can “conduct due diligence to 
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investigate each suspicious circumstance” and, if able to dispel each such circumstance within 

seven days, “distribute pursuant to the order” and “maintain a record of its due diligence.”  Id. at 

69298–99.  DEA is thus proposing to “amend[] its regulations,” id. at 69288 (emphasis added), to 

establish the no-ship obligation that Defendants imagine exists under current law.  

C. In the face of the above, Defendants seek to ground their no-ship duty in a DEA 

guidance letter and some administrative decisions revoking registrations.  Neither succeeds.   

First, as explained above, supra pp. 4–5, an informal letter cannot create new duties absent 

from the statute and regulations.  In December 2007, Deputy Assistant DEA Administrator Joseph 

Rannazzisi told registrants, in a letter, that they “must conduct an independent analysis of 

suspicious orders prior to completing a sale.”  See Ex. 3.  But agency letters like these, which are 

not subject to notice-and-comment procedures, lack the “force and effect of law.”  Kornman & 

Assocs., Inc. v. United States, 527 F.3d 443, 452 (5th Cir. 2008).  DOJ itself has prohibited the use 

of such guidance documents as a basis to impose civil liability.  Interim Final Rule, Processes and 

Procedures for Issuance and Use of Guidance Documents, 85 Fed. Reg. 63200 (effective Oct. 7, 

2020).  Per that regulation, DOJ cannot “treat a party’s noncompliance with a guidance document 

as itself a violation of applicable statutes or regulations.”  28 C.F.R. § 50.27(b)(1).  Rather, “[t]he 

Department must establish a violation by reference to statutes and regulations.”  Id. 

Second, DEA’s attempt to locate the purported no-ship duty in past adjudicative decisions 

also fails, because these decisions do not and cannot purport to impose such an obligation.  Like 

the decisions about a pharmacist’s corresponding responsibility discussed above, see supra pp. 

12–13, these decisions arise in the distinct context of revocation of registration, not civil liability.  

So they turn upon a different standard—whether the applicant’s continued registration is 
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“inconsistent with the public interest,” 21 U.S.C. § 824(a)(4)—and do not establish that there is 

any specific duty under existing law to withhold suspicious orders after reporting them. 

In any case, the decisions the DEA highlights do not purport to establish a no-ship duty.  

In Southwood Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 72 Fed. Reg. 36487, 36499–500 (July 3, 2007), DEA 

concluded that the registrant had failed to maintain effective controls against diversion because it 

continued to distribute “massive quantities of controlled substances” despite “being advised by 

agency officials that its internet pharmacy customers were likely engaged in illegal activity.” 

(emphasis added).  DEA thus adopted only the limited principle that a registrant who “had reason 

to know that it was contributing to the diversion of [opioids] through most, if not all, of the 

pharmacies it supplie[s],” yet took no meaningful steps to investigate or report those pharmacies, 

should lose its registration.  Id. at 36502.  The agency did not thereby purport to create a new, 

independent duty for distributors to investigate all “suspicious” orders.   

The DEA has also cited its decision about Masters Pharmaceuticals, later affirmed by the 

D.C. Circuit, as support for its no-ship duty.  Masters Pharm., Inc., 80 Fed. Reg. 55418 (Sept. 15, 

2015); Masters Pharm., Inc. v. DEA, 861 F.3d 206, 212 (D.C. Cir. 2017).  But that case is even 

further afield.  As the D.C. Circuit recognized, the Administrator “concluded that Masters’ 

frequent violations of the Reporting Requirement warranted revocation of Masters’ certificate of 

registration … [and] therefore had no need to consider whether Masters additionally violated the 

Shipping Requirement.”  Masters, 861 F.3d at 215.  Because “the Administrator’s holding rests 

on Masters’ violation of the Reporting Requirement, not the Shipping Requirement,” the court did 

not consider Masters’ argument that DEA had “unlawfully ... amended the regulatory scheme by 

tacking the Shipping Requirement onto the settled list of ‘security requirements’ stated in sections 
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1301.72–1301.76.”  Id. at 221–22.  As a result, the Masters revocation proceeding cannot sustain 

Defendants’ purported no-ship obligation either. 

In any event, even if DEA had sought to create a no-ship duty through adjudication, it could 

not do so.  As explained, agency adjudication can be used to interpret existing duties, but not to 

create new ones.  See supra pp. 4–5, 12–13.  Here, Defendants are trying to create new substantive 

obligations—to “add[] content to the governing legal norms,”  Syncor Int’l Corp. v. Shalala, 127 

F.3d 90, 96 (D.C. Cir. 1997)—by inserting a novel no-ship duty into the CSA and its regulatory 

framework.  This is impermissible as a matter of administrative law.     

V. DISTRIBUTORS CANNOT FACE CIVIL PENALTIES FOR FAILING TO MAKE REPORTS 
REQUIRED BY REGULATION RATHER THAN BY THE CSA ITSELF. 

Finally, Defendants claim that, even before Congress amended the CSA in 2018 to turn the 

regulatory duty to report “suspicious” orders into a statutory duty, the law authorized penalties 

against distributors who failed to report those orders.  (Compl. ¶ 155.)  That theory also fails, as 

the sole authorized remedy for such alleged failures at that time was revocation of registration. 

The CSA makes it “unlawful for any person … to refuse or negligently fail to make, keep, 

or furnish any record, report, notification, declaration, order or order form, statement, invoice, or 

information required under this subchapter or subchapter II.”  21 U.S.C. § 842(a)(5) (emphasis 

added).  Violations of that section are subject to civil penalties, not to exceed $10,000 per violation.  

Id. § 842(c)(1)(B) (2012).  The italicized language—“under this subchapter or subchapter II”—

refers to records required by the statute, not by regulation.  And that omission was no slip of the 

pen: Other provisions of the CSA refer specifically to “this subchapter [and] regulations prescribed 

by the Attorney General,” id. § 829(f)(1), or “subsection (d) [of this section] and regulations 

prescribed by [the Attorney General] pursuant to this section,” id. § 828(a).  Section 842(a)(5) thus 

provides liability for failure to file only those reports required by the CSA itself—not by its 
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regulations.  See Russello v. United States, 464 U.S. 16, 23 (1983) (“We refrain from concluding 

... that the differing language in the two subsections has the same meaning in each.”). 

This plain language blocks Defendants’ attempt to obtain civil penalties for a distributor’s 

failure to file suspicious order reports before October 2018.  The CSA requires registrants to make, 

keep, or furnish numerous records, reports, and the like.  See, e.g., 21 U.S.C. § 827(a)(1) (requiring 

registrants to make a “biennial inventory” of their stocks of controlled substances); id. § 827(a)(3) 

(requiring registrants to “maintain, on a current basis, a complete and accurate record of each 

[controlled] substance manufactured, received, sold, delivered, or otherwise disposed of”); id. 

§ 828(c) (requiring distributors to “preserve” the orders they receive “for a period of two years”).  

But until 2018, the statute did not require distributors to “make, keep, or furnish” suspicious order 

reports; only 21 C.F.R. § 1301.74(b) did that.  DEA could consider a distributor’s violation of that 

requirement in determining whether to revoke its registration, 21 U.S.C. § 823(b), but that 

violation could not be the basis for the imposition of civil penalties under § 842.   

The text alone proves this point, but the Supreme Court’s decision in Kucana v. Holder, 

558 U.S. 233 (2010), puts the matter beyond all doubt.  There, Congress stripped jurisdiction to 

review certain immigration decisions “specified under this subchapter to be in the discretion of 

the Attorney General.”  8 U.S.C. § 1252(a)(2)(B)(ii) (emphasis added).  The lower court held that 

it lacked jurisdiction to review an immigrant’s request to reopen his immigration proceedings even 

though it was a regulation—not the statute—that conferred discretion on the Attorney General in 

such matters.  The Supreme Court disagreed.  It held that the “key words ‘specified under this 

subchapter’” referred “to statutory, but not to regulatory, specifications.”  558 U.S. at 237.  “In 

other provisions,” the Court observed, “Congress expressed precisely” its desire to sweep in 

regulatory commands too.  Id. at 248.  As noted, the same is true of the CSA—both its operative 
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text and its surrounding provisions.  Under Kucana, Defendants therefore cannot seek penalties 

for a distributor’s failure to file suspicious order reports before October 2018. 

Finally, subsequent government action confirms the point.  In October 2018, the SUPPORT 

Act amended the CSA to require registrants to report suspicious orders.  Pub. L. No. 115-271, 132 

Stat. 3894 (2018).  Congress also amended the CSA’s penalty provision to specify penalties for 

violating the recordkeeping requirements “related to the reporting of suspicious orders for 

opioids.”  21 U.S.C. § 842(c)(1)(B)(ii).  “When Congress acts to amend a statute, [courts] presume 

it intends its amendment to have real and substantial effect.”  Stone v. INS, 514 U.S. 386, 397 

(1995).  The decision to amend the CSA to require such reports (and to specify the fine for violating 

that new mandate) thus corroborates that civil penalties were unavailable under § 842 beforehand.  

CONCLUSION 

The Court should grant summary judgment and declare the following:  

(1) A pharmacist does not violate the CSA or its regulations by dispensing controlled 

substances without documenting the resolution of any “red flags” associated with the prescription, 

only by knowingly filling a prescription issued outside the usual course of professional treatment;  

(2) The CSA and its implementing regulations do not prohibit pharmacists from filling 

entire categories of prescriptions, without regard to the individual circumstances of each case; 

(3) The CSA and its implementing regulations do not impose duties on businesses that 

operate pharmacies, beyond the duties imposed on pharmacists themselves, to guard against filling 

invalid controlled-substance prescriptions;  

(4) A controlled-substance distributor does not violate the CSA or its regulations by 

shipping a “suspicious” order without first investigating and clearing it; and  

(5) Until Congress amended the CSA in October 2018, a controlled-substance distributor 

was not subject to civil penalties for failing to report “suspicious” orders to DEA.  
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

SHERMAN DIVISION 

WALMART INC., 
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v. 

U.S. DRUG ENFORCEMENT 
ADMINISTRATION; ACTING 
ADMINISTRATOR TIMOTHY J. SHEA; 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE; 
ATTORNEY GENERAL WILLIAM P. 
BARR, 
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DECLARATION OF JASON S. VARNADO 

 I, Jason S. Varnado, hereby declare: 

1. I am a partner at the law firm Jones Day and counsel to Plaintiff Walmart Inc. 

(“Walmart”) in this case. I file this declaration to submit to the Court true and correct copies of 

the following publicly available materials, which are cited in Walmart’s Motion for Partial 

Summary Judgment: 

2. Exhibit 1 to Walmart’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is a true and 

correct copy of a letter from Steven L. Olsen, Idaho Deputy Attorney General, to Idaho Wal-

Mart Pharmacies, dated February 8, 2019. 

3. Exhibit 2 to Walmart’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is a true and 

correct copy of an administrative warning issued by the State of Wisconsin Pharmacy Examining 

Board to Walmart Pharmacy # 10-1650, dated December 6, 2018. 
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4. Exhibit 3 to Walmart’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is a true and 

correct copy of a letter from U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration Deputy Assistant 

Administrator Joseph Rannazzisi to registrants, dated December 27, 2007. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the 

foregoing is true and correct.  

 

Executed on November 13, 2020. 

   

/s/ Jason S. Varnado 
 
Jason S. Varnado 
Texas Bar No. 24034722 
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ADMINISTRATOR TIMOTHY J. SHEA; 
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[PROPOSED] ORDER  

  Plaintiff Walmart Inc. filed its Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (“Motion”) under 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 in the above-numbered cause.  Upon consideration of Plaintiff’s Motion, and 

the submissions and arguments of the parties, the Court finds that, with respect to the discrete 

questions of law raised in the Motion, there are no genuine issues of material fact, that Plaintiff is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law, and that Plaintiff’s Motion should be granted. 

 It is hereby ordered that Plaintiff’s Motion is GRANTED.  The Court hereby  

1. DECLARES that a pharmacist does not violate the Controlled Substances Act 

(“CSA”) or its regulations by dispensing controlled substances without 

documenting the resolution of any “red flags” associated with the prescription, 

only by knowingly filling a prescription issued outside the usual course of 

professional treatment;  
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2. DECLARES that the CSA and its implementing regulations do not prohibit 

pharmacists from filling entire categories of prescriptions, without regard to the 

individual circumstances of each case;  

3. DECLARES that the CSA and its implementing regulations do not impose duties 

on business that operate pharmacies, beyond the duties imposed on pharmacists 

themselves, to guard against filling invalid controlled-substance prescriptions; 

4. DECLARES that a controlled-substance distributor does not violate the CSA or 

its regulations by shipping a “suspicious” order without first investigating and 

clearing it; and  

5. DECLARES that until Congress amended the CSA in October 2018, a controlled-

substance distributor was not subject to civil penalties for failing to report 

“suspicious” orders to DEA. 

It is SO ORDERED. 
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